6

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

NOV 13 2017

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-22-01062
Appellate Case No. 2017-000234

Georgetown County,Appellant,

v.

Davis & Floyd, Inc., Republic Contracting Corporation, S&ME, Inc.,
The South Carolina Department of Transportation and The City of Georgetown, Defendants,

Of whom

The South Carolina Department of Transportation and The City of Georgetown
are..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Louis H. Lang, SC Bar No. 3127
George A. Taylor, SC Bar No. 100245
CALLISON TIGHE & ROBINSON, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT GEORGETOWN COUNTY CANNOT MAINTAIN AN INVERSE CONDEMNATION CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER ART. I., § 13 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION?

- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT GEORGETOWN COUNTY IS NOT ENTITLED TO JUST COMPENSATION UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEDURE ACT, S.C. CODE ANN. § 28-2-10 *ET. SEQ.* OR THE STATE AUTHORITIES EMINENT DOMAIN ACT, S.C. CODE ANN. § 28-3-20, *ET. SEQ.*?

- III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT PUBLIC POLICY DOES NOT REQUIRE THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION AND THE CITY OF GEORGETOWN TO PAY JUST COMPENSATION TO GEORGETOWN COUNTY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Georgetown County (the “County”), filed its Complaint on October 25, 2013. (ROA p. 11) and its Amended Complaint¹ on July 10, 2014 (ROA p. 34). Among the causes of action asserted by the County was an inverse condemnation claim against the South Carolina Department of Transportation (“SCDOT”) and the City of Georgetown (the “City”). The inverse condemnation claim arose from damage to County buildings and property caused by a public utility project jointly undertaken by the City and SCDOT that was intended to resolve storm drainage and flooding problems in the City of Georgetown.

The County filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on May 2, 2014. (Motion for Summary Judgment, ROA, p. 76). A hearing was held on the County’s motion on August 7, 2014. In its Memorandum in Opposition to the County’s Motion for Summary Judgment, SCDOT asserted the County was not entitled to relief and moved to dismiss the inverse condemnation cause of action under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP. (SCDOT Memorandum in Opposition, ROA p. 118). The City joined in these arguments during the hearing. (ROA, p. 307).

After further briefing and a second hearing, the circuit court entered the appealed-from Order on November 12, 2015 (the “Order”). In the Order, the circuit court held:

Since Georgetown County’s property is public property, the takings clause (Art. I, § 13 of the South Carolina Constitution) has no application. The Takings Clause is limited to private property by its clear and unambiguous terms. The purposes and intent of the enactment of the Takings Clause do not support an application to public property.

¹ The only difference between the Complaint and the Amended Complaint is in paragraph 9 of each. The Amended Complaint substituted as one of the County’s Buildings at issue, 1230 Highmarket Street, for the property pleaded in the Complaint, 716 Prince Street. Hereafter, except as may be pertinent regarding the affected property, reference will be to the Complaint.

For the reasons stated above, the Court finds that Georgetown County cannot maintain an inverse condemnation action against SCDOT and City because the Takings Clause applies only to private and not to public property. Therefore, because the Court finds as a matter of law that Georgetown County cannot maintain an inverse condemnation cause of action that claim is stricken and the Court grants the SCDOT Rule 12(b)(6) motion. In so ruling, the Court notes that this is a novel question of law in South Carolina, and it is this Court's intent by striking the County's inverse condemnation cause of action to affect the County's substantial right to proceed with this cause of action and that this Order be immediately appealable.

Order, pp. 5-6, ROA, pp. 5-6.

The County filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend, Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP on November 13, 2015. (County's Rule 59(e) Motion, ROA, p. 221). The circuit court heard arguments on this motion on August 5, 2016, and issued its written order denying the County's Rule 59(e) motion on January 17, 2017. (Order denying Rule 59(e) motion, ROA p. 7). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves damage to the County's real property and buildings located at 333 Cleland Street (Magistrates Complex); 401 Cleland Street (the Georgetown County Judicial Center); 405 Cleland Street (Public Library); 325 Dozier Street (Winyah High Gym); 330 Dozier Street (Department of Social Services); and 1230 Highmarket Street (Waccamaw Regional Building) (collectively, the "County's Buildings"). (Amended Complaint ¶ 9, ROA, p. 35). These damages are a result of a public works project undertaken jointly by SCDOT and the City in 2009 to resolve storm drainage and flooding problems in the City of Georgetown (the "Drainage Project"). (Compl. ¶ 12, ROA, p. 36; SCDOT's Answer ¶ 13, ROA, p. 53; and the City's Answer ¶ 10, ROA, p. 69). The purpose of the Drainage Project was to relieve or reduce the impact of historical surface water flooding in the area surrounding City Hall, including U.S.

Highways 17 and 521. (County's Memorandum in Support of Its Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit A² p. 8, ROA, p. 99). The Drainage Project consisted of the planning and construction of a water storage facility and wet well, redirection of stored water through a gravity piping system, and forced drainage of water from the wet well into the Sampit River. (Id.). As part of the Drainage Project, the water storage area underwent a significant pumping of water so that new drainage structures could be fabricated below grade. (Compl. ¶ 17, ROA, p. 13). During construction, king piles (hollow steel piles) were installed by pre-drilling holes and driving the king piles deep into the sub-surface of the ground to provide lateral support for the walls of the water storage facility. (Affidavit of George A. Sembos, P.E. ¶ 8, ROA p. 79, and F&ME Report, p. 22, ROA p. 113). During the installation of the king piles, a ring-shaped space was created around the outside of the pile. (Id.). These piles breached a subsurface layer which confined underground water, causing this underground water to rise from beneath the confining layer and fill the water storage area. (Id.). During the construction of the Drainage Project, multiple land-surface collapses occurred, and sinkholes and depressions formed in and around the area of the Drainage Project. (F&ME Report, p. 20, ROA p. 111).

After the sinkhole depressions occurred, SCDOT hired F&ME Consultants to investigate and identify the cause and origin of the sinkholes and depressions. According to F&ME, at least seven sinkhole/depressions were caused by the construction activities related to the Drainage Project which impacted a lower, confined aquifer system underlying the area in question. (F&ME Report, p. 22, ROA, p. 113).

The County's Buildings were damaged as a result of sinkhole collapses. (Compl. ¶ ¶ 9 and 11, ROA, pp. 12-13, (Affidavit of George A. Sembos, P.E. ¶ 9, ROA p. 79, and

² Hereinafter, the "F&ME Report."

Supplemental Affidavit of George A. Sembos, P.E. ¶ 5-9, ROA pp. 156-157). These sinkhole collapses were caused by the Drainage Project. (Affidavit of George A. Sembos, P.E. ¶ ¶ 7-11. ROA pp. 79-80).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a motion to dismiss, an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the circuit court. Carolina Park Associates, LLC v. Marino, 400 S.C. 1, 6, 732 S.E. 2d 876, 878 (2012). “Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the circuit court.” Id. “The trial court’s ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion must be bottomed and premised solely upon the allegations set forth by the plaintiff.” Williams v. Condon, 347 S.C. 227, 233, 553 S.E.2d 496, 499 (Ct. App. 2001). The motion must be denied if the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case. Id. “The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” Doe v. Marion, 373 S.C. 390, 295, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247-48 (2007).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in ruling the County is not entitled to just compensation under the Takings Clause, Art. I, § 13 of the South Carolina Constitution.

At the heart of this matter is whether, as a matter of law, one governmental entity, such as the County, may maintain an inverse condemnation claim against another governmental entity, such as SCDOT and the City. As stated in the circuit court’s order, this is a novel question of law in South Carolina. (Order p. 6, ROA, p. 6). No South Carolina appellate decision has held that a governmental entity is barred from asserting an inverse condemnation claim against another governmental entity.

Article I, § 13 of the South Carolina Constitution of 1895 provides:

(A) Except as otherwise provided in this Constitution, private property shall not be taken for private use without the consent of the owner, nor for public use without just compensation being first made for the property...

Inverse condemnation is based on the constitutional prohibition of taking property without compensation. Horry Cty. v. Ins. Reserve Fund, 344 S.C. 493, 498, 544 S.E.2d 637, 640 (Ct. App. 2001). Inverse condemnation is a cause of action to recover the value of property that has been effectively taken by a governmental entity, although not through the process of eminent domain. Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. Richland Cty., 394 S.C. 154, 170, 714 S.E.2d 869, 877 (2011).

The elements of an inverse condemnation action based on physical appropriation of property, such as this case, are: (1) affirmative conduct of a governmental entity, (2) which effects a taking, and (3) the taking is for a public use. Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. S. C. Dept. of Transp., 391 S.C. 429, 435, 706 S.E.2d 501 (2011).³

a. The County is protected against unconstitutional takings by Article I, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution of 1895.

No South Carolina case has held that a governmental entity is barred from asserting an inverse condemnation claim against another governmental entity. No statutory authority supports this conclusion. In fact, South Carolina statutory authority supports the conclusion that the County is entitled to just compensation.

Numerous other states have concluded that where the state or a political subdivision takes property belonging to another political subdivision, just compensation must be paid. See e.g.,

³ Formerly, "some degree of permanence" was a required element; however, this element has been removed. E.g. Byrd v. City of Hartsville, 365 S.C. 650, 657, 620 S.E.2d 76,79 (2005); Frampton v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 406 S.C. 377, 387, 752 S.E.2d 269, 275 (Ct. App. 2013).

Marin Mun. Water Dist. v. City of Mill Valley, 202 Cal. App. 3d 1161, 249 Cal. Rptr. 469 (1988) (holding a public water district suffered no less of a taking than if the property were owned by an individual and that the district stated a cause of action in inverse condemnation for unintentional physical damage to its property); City of Three Forks v. State Highway Comm'n, 156 Mont. 392, 480 P.2d 826 (Mont. 1971) (holding the property was owned by the city, not the State of Montana, and that compensation must be paid for property of the City taken by the State); State ex. rel. State Highway Comm'r v. Cooper, 24 N.J. 261, 131 A.2d 756 (1957) (impliedly overruling New Jersey precedent on the governmental-proprietary distinction and stating if the breadth of previous case doctrine were followed it would lead to the startling result that “the State [could] appropriate, for wholly unrelated public purposes and without just compensation, various municipal properties such as town halls and schoolhouses...”); Highline Sch. Dist. No. 401, King Cty. v. Port of Seattle, 87 Wash. 2d 6, 548 P.2d 1085 (Wash. 1976) (en banc) (reversing grant of summary judgment on inverse condemnation against condemnee school district and stating that where a condemnee governmental unit must furnish services which require use of the property taken, just compensation must be paid); City of Chester v. Com., Dept. of Transp., 495 Pa. 382, 434 A.2d 695 (1981)(holding the Pennsylvania Constitution does not allow the Commonwealth to escape its financial obligation owed to a public condemnee for property taken); Brusco Towboat Co. v. State By & Through Straub, 31 Or.App. 491, 493, 570 P.2d 996, 998 (1977)(en banc) (stating that two government entities are nevertheless entities distinct from the state and stating “[t]hey are supported by a distinct tax base and they serve a distinct constituency. Accordingly, they are protected against taking by the state without compensation.”); State ex. rel. Ala. State Docks Dept. v. Atkins, 439 So.2d 128 (Ala. 1983) (holding Mobile County was entitled to compensation for the taking of its roadway by the State

of Alabama); Donnaher v. State, 16 Miss. 649, (Miss. Er. & App. 1847) (holding railroad company must pay just compensation to the City of Jackson to have a right to construct a railroad through the public streets). The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that property acquired and devoted to a public use may be condemned by the SCDOT. Riley v. S. C. State Hwy. Dept., 238 S.C. 19, 26, 118 S.E.2d 809, 812 (1961) (implying that compensation must be paid to an orphanage where the SCDOT was allowed to condemn).

Appended to this brief, marked as **Appendix A**, are the taking clauses of the constitutions of the eight states whose court opinions are discussed above – California, New Jersey, Montana, Washington, Pennsylvania, Oregon, Alabama, and Mississippi. All speak in terms of *private property not being taken for a public use without just compensation*. These states all held that their respective takings clauses require payment of just compensation where one public entity has taken the property of another public entity. South Carolina’s taking clause should be interpreted no differently.

In Marin, the question presented, *i.e.*, can one public entity assert an inverse condemnation claim against another, was answered in the affirmative, the California Court of Appeals holding that a public water district’s property was protected by the California state constitution.⁴ Marin, 202 Cal.App.3d 1161, 249 Cal. Rptr. 469. In Marin, as in this case, the City of Mill Valley caused unintentional physical damage to the public water district’s property.

The court stated:

When the [City of Mill Valley] fails to construct or maintain its improvement properly, it takes a calculated risk that damage to private property may occur. If damage to private property results, it is proper to require the entity that took this risk to bear the loss when damage occurs. *We see no reason why these principles*

⁴ At the time Marin was decided, the California Constitution provided, “Private property may be taken or damaged for public use only when just compensation... has first been paid to... the owner.” Marin, 202 Cal. App.3d at 1164 n.2, 249 Cal.Rptr. at 470, n. 2. The California Constitution is currently similarly drafted. Ca. Const. Art. 1, § 19.

should not apply to compensate for damage to property owned by another public entity. To paraphrase the California Supreme Court, a public entity whose property has been damaged by another public entity suffers no less a taking merely because of its public entity status.

Id. at 1165, 249 Cal. Rptr at 471. (Emphasis added).

The court went on to discuss that to hold otherwise would overlook a basic fairness argument that one public entity should not be allowed to take property belonging to another public entity without compensation. Id. at 1166, 249 Cal. Rptr. 472. “Funds collected by one public entity for one purpose should not be thus appropriated, disrupting that entity’s finances.”

Id.

Art. VIII, § 17 of the South Carolina Constitution provides, “[t]he provisions of this Constitution and all laws concerning local government shall be liberally construed in their favor.” Under this Constitutional provision, the County, a local government, is entitled to have the provisions of Art. I, § 13 construed in its favor. Doing so requires a finding that the County is entitled to just compensation under Art. I, § 13.

Just as in Marin, the County’s properties have been taken without an award of just compensation. SCDOT and City undertook the Drainage Project, taking the calculated risk that damage to the County’s properties could occur. South Carolina’s Constitution requires SCDOT and City compensate the County for the property damage to the County’s buildings they caused.

- i. The County’s properties are not excluded from the Constitutional protection against taking of private property without just compensation.**

In their briefs to the circuit court, SCDOT and the City relied upon Edgefield County v. Georgia-Carolina Power Co., 104 S.C. 311, 88 S.E.801 (1916), for the proposition that “public

property” does not fall within the protection of the Constitution.⁵ See SCDOT’s Supplemental Memorandum In Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 5, 9, (ROA p. 171, p. 175); and Brief of the City of Georgetown on Legal Issue of Whether Georgetown County Can Assert an Inverse Condemnation Claim Under the Law, p. 7 (ROA p. 184).

Edgefield County involved a suit for damages brought by Edgefield County against a utility company, the utility company having been legislatively granted the power to condemn. The circuit court overruled the utility company’s demurrer, and the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed, holding “... under the Constitution and statutes we are of the opinion that the county may maintain the action it has pleaded.” Id. at 328, 88 S.E. at 806.

The Edgefield County Court also stated, “[t]he defendant further asserts that the county had no such ownership of the highway and ferry as to render their serious impairment by the defendant a wrong to the plaintiff, and that the constitutional prohibition to take private property without making compensation therefor has no application to the taking of public property.” Id. at 326, 88 S.E. at 806 (emphasis added).

The Court went on to state:

But public property, we think, does not fall within the protection of the Constitution. That which the state has set apart for one public purpose the state may dedicate to another and higher public purpose. The supreme good of the public—salus reipublicae suprema lex—is the ideal to be accomplished, and it is in the keeping of the state. So that in the instant case it would have been obviously within the power of the Legislature to have expressly subjected the highway in Edgefield to be overflowed by the waters of Stevens creek and Savannah river, and Edgefield could not complain about it.

But such intent will not be lightly inferred; the intent to do so must be a necessary implication of the words of the grant and the purpose of the grant.

Id. at 329, 88 S.E. at 807.

⁵ SCDOT and the City also relied on Edgefield County in their Return to the County’s Motion to Certify to the Supreme Court.

As the Edgefield County Court noted, at the time that case was decided, “[t]he Constitution of 1895... by implication left the government of the counties in the hands of the Legislature.” Id. at 327, 88 S.E. at 806. The Court also opined that at that time, “under the Constitution and laws of the state, the state [General Assembly] ha[d] absolute control over the government of counties.” Id. That is not the case today, as the government of the counties is no longer in the hands of the General Assembly as a consequence of South Carolina’s movement to local government “home rule” in 1975. See S.C. Const. art. VIII, § 1, *et. seq.*; S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-10, *et. seq.*; and Hospitality Ass’n of South Carolina, Inc. v. Cty. of Charleston, 320 S.C. 219, 224, 464 S.E.2d 113 (1995).

As explained in Hospitality Ass’n:

For generations, legislative delegations of the General Assembly controlled virtually every aspect of local government. Relinquishment of this control effectively began in April of 1966, when the General Assembly created a Committee to study the South Carolina Constitution and appointed then Senator John C. West as chairman. The major task assigned to the West Committee was to develop and recommend amendments to the Constitution that would eliminate archaic provisions and “strengthen it in such other areas, so that it [would] provide a workable framework with proper safeguards for sound State, County and local governments.”

In June of 1969, after three years of numerous hearings and conferences, the West Committee submitted its Final Report to the Governor and General Assembly. In the Report, the Committee unanimously recommended amendments to the Constitution that would place the control and management of county and municipal affairs in the hands of duly elected local officials.

Following three years of legislative debate on the Report, the General Assembly placed upon the November 1972 general election ballot for referendum vote an Amendment of Article VIII of the Constitution. See Act No. 1631, 1972 S.C.Acts 3184. Acting upon a favorable vote of the people, the General Assembly, on March 7, 1973, ratified the Amendment. See Act No. 63, 1973 S.C.Acts 67.

As ratified, new Article VIII directed the General Assembly to implement what was popularly referred to as “home rule” by establishing the structure, organization, powers, duties, functions, and responsibilities of local governments

by general law. S.C. Const. art. VIII, §§ 7 and 9. **In addition, new Article VIII mandated a liberal rule of construction regarding any constitutional provisions or laws concerning local government.** S.C. Const. art. VIII, § 17.

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