THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

SC Court of Appeals

NOV 17 2017

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Court of Appeals Case No.: 2017-000234

Georgetown County, .....Petitioner,

v.

Davis & Floyd, Inc., Republic Contracting Corporation,  
S&ME, Inc., The South Carolina Department of Transportation  
and The City of Georgetown, .....Defendants,

Of Whom

The South Carolina Department of Transportation and  
The City of Georgetown, ..... Respondents.

**JOINT FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT  
OF TRANSPORTATION AND THE CITY OF GEORGETOWN**

David L. Morrison, Esquire

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

### ARGUMENTS

- I. **THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN ORDERING THAT THE ARTICLE I, SECTION 13 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION APPLIES TO PRIVATE PROPERTY.**
- A. **THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT ADDING LANGUAGE TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION THAT IS NOT CONTAINED THEREIN.**

The instant appeal concerns whether language/provisions can be added to Article I, § 13 of the South Carolina Constitution that are not contained therein. Article I, § 13 of the South Carolina Constitution states that "private property shall not be taken for private use without the consent of the owner, nor for public use without just compensation being first made therefore".

This is not a case of one governmental entity intentionally and/or affirmatively condemning the property of another governmental entity. That is covered by the law and principles of the Eminent Domain statute. This case involves the alleged unintentional damage of public property as the result of a public works project. The cause of action in this matter is not the physical occupation or appropriation of property for another entity's use. As such we turn to the law of inverse condemnation not eminent domain. "The term 'inverse condemnation' describes an action grounded, not on statutory condemnation power, but on the constitutional proscription." *Vick v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp.*, 347 S.C. 470, 556 S.E.2d 693 (Ct. App. 2001). An inverse condemnation action is not based on tort, but on the constitutional prohibition. *Horry County v. Insurance Reserve Fund*, 344 S.C. 493, 544 S.E.2d 637 (Ct. App. 2001). Inverse condemnation is not simply the reverse of Eminent Domain. In South Carolina a governmental entity that does not have the power of Eminent Domain can still be held liable in inverse condemnation. "[A]s long as the state acts through one of its arms in such a way as to

deprive an **individual** of his property for public use, it is irrelevant whether the state arm doing the actual taking has eminent domain power.” *Mowrer v. Charleston County Park & Rec. Comm'n* , 361 S.C. 476, 605 S.E.2d 563, (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added). “Liability for inverse condemnation is grounded in the Constitution, not in a statutory power of eminent domain or tort.” *Id.* at 481 n. 8, 605 S.E.2d @ 565 n. 8.

Contrary to Appellant’s contention, this specific issue has not been formally addressed by many states. What has been addressed is whether a governmental entity can intentionally take the property of another governmental entity and use such property for the use of the condemning entity pursuant to eminent domain. In this case the property alleged to have been taken was not intentionally taken and has not been transferred to the use of the Respondents. Therefore the case law in that vein cited by Appellant is not applicable here.

The word “private” is unambiguous and the court did not err in giving it its plain ordinary meaning. “When this Court is called upon to interpret our Constitution, we are guided by the ‘ordinary and popular meaning of the words used....’” *Richardson v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 350 S.C. 291, 566 S.E.2d 523 (2002). “A word used in the Constitution should be given its ‘plain and ordinary’ meaning.” *Id.* “Under the plain and ordinary meaning rule, it is not the court’s place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute.” *In re Vincent J.*, 333 S.C. 233, 509 S.E.2d 261 (1998). Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” *Id.* at 233, 509 S.E.2d at 262 (citing *Paschal v. State Election Comm’n*, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d 890 (1995)). “What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79,

533 S.E.2d 578 (2000). Article I, § 13 of the South Carolina Constitution is contained in the Bill of Rights to the SC Constitution. The Bill of Rights is a charter of negative powers, that is, it prevents the government from depriving the citizens of their basic rights. The Bill of Rights was never designed or intended to protect the government. The term “private property” is clear and unambiguous. The Appellant has provided no caselaw wherein the term “private property” has been held to be ambiguous. Appellant cites no South Carolina case that has interpreted the word “private” to include “public” in its meaning, nor any instance in which a South Carolina court has ruled that article I, section 13 applies to public as well as private entities. This Court must interpret article I, section 13’s use of the term “private property” according to its plain meaning. This constitutional language is unambiguous and therefore the Court is confined to reviewing the words of the provision itself. Black’s Law Dictionary 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition defines property private as “the term that describes property belonging to a person or person's and not to a community.”

The Supreme Court of Missouri recently considered this issue in a strikingly similar case. In *Metro. St. Louis Sewer Dist. v. City of Bellefontaine Neighbors*, 476 S.W.3d 913, 2016 Mo. LEXIS 1 (Mo. 2016) the sewer district (MSD) sued the City of Bellefontaine Neighbors in inverse condemnation for the alleged unintentional damage to the sewers underground pipes as the result of a city public project. “Article I, section 26 of the Missouri Constitution provides “[t]hat private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation.” *Id.* MSD, has Appellant did here, did not contest that it is a public entity, that the property allegedly taken was the property of a public entity or that the constitutional article expressly provides that “private property” shall not be taken without compensation. MSD, like Appellant, argued that the court should interpret the words “private property” as used in the constitutional article to include public property that is damaged by other public entities “either by ignoring the

word ‘private’, by defining ‘private’ to include ‘public’, or by adding by implication the word ‘public’ because there is not good policy reason why just compensation should not be provided to public entities whose property has been taken by another public entity when private entities are so entitled.” *Id.* Missouri rejected MSD’s arguments finding that MSD, like Appellant, cited no Missouri case that interpreted the word “private” to include “public” in its meaning, nor any instance in which a Missouri court had ruled that article I, section 26 applied to public as well as private entities. The Court held that, like Appellant in this case, MSD asked ‘the [c]ourt to act as a legislature or to add a provision to the constitution that is not there.” *Id.* The Missouri Supreme Court held that “is not a role this Court can undertake.” *Id.* “The Court must interpret article I, section 26’s use of the term ‘private property’ according to its plain meaning.” *Id.*

“Webster’s Third New International Dictionary defines ‘private as ‘belonging to or concerning an individual person, company or interest (~ property). *WEBSTERS THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY AT 1804, (3<sup>RD</sup> ED. 1993).* ‘Public’ means authorized or administered by or on acting for the people as a political entity: government. *Id.* at 1836. These definitions unequivocally do not support reading the word ‘private’ to include within its meaning the word ‘public.’ To the contrary, the words are understood as antonyms.”

*Id.*

The court went on to hold that “article I, section 26 affirmatively limits its reach to private property. The meaning of this language is plain. It does not give a public entity a constitutional right to just compensation for the taking of its property.”

As in the *Metro. St. Louis Sewer District* case above, the constitutional language in Article I, § 13 of the SC Constitution is unambiguous and therefore the Court is confined to reviewing the words of the provision itself. Article I, § 13 affirmatively limits its reach to private property and as such the court did not err in not ignoring the word “private”, in not defining “private” to include “public”, or in not adding by implication the word “public.”

The issue of whether a governmental entity can bring an inverse condemnation action against another governmental entity for unintentional damage to public property as the result of a public works project has not been directly decided in this state. However the issue has been addressed by the Supreme Court. The issue is addressed by *Edgefield County v. Georgia – Carolina Power Co.*, 104 S.C. 311, 88 S.E. 801 (1916). Appellant is correct in that the case was ultimately not decided on constitutional grounds but statutory grounds, however the Court addresses the issue of whether public property falls under the protection of the Constitution and states, “[a]nd it is true that, if the company should thereby flood the private property of the citizen, then under the constitutional protection it would need to make compensation to those persons who suffered a particular injury from the nuisance. But public property, we think, does not fall within the protection of the Constitution.” *Edgefield County v. Georgia –Carolina Power Co.*, 104 S.C. 311, 88 S.E. 801 (1916).

Appellant’s position would render the word “private” meaningless and of no effect. As used, “private” is an adjective modifying property to describe the type of property effected. The inclusion of the word surely was for a purpose. Appellant’s view would read “private” out of the Constitution altogether – an illogical interpretation.

This court should affirm the Order of the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. dated November 12, 2015.

**B. HOME RULE DOES NOT CHANGE THE NATURE OF PUBLIC PROPERTY.**

South Carolina’s movement to “Home Rule” in 1975 does not change the public nature of the property at issue in this case. The General Assembly has created the Department of Transportation and given it authority to construct, maintain, and protect State Highways. S.C. Code §§ 57-1-20 & 30 (Rev. 2006). It is, in essence, the sovereign itself. *Riley v. S.C. State*

*Highway Dep't*, 238 S.C. 19, 118 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1961). It is an alter ego of the State itself.

*Id.* In *Chesterfield County v. State Highway Dep't*, 191 S.C. 19, 3 S.E.2d 686 (1939), the Court reviewed the relationship between counties and the State and, citing Corpus Jurisprudence stated:

“[C]omprehensively considered, a county is an involuntary political or civil division of the state, created by statute to aid in the administration of government...[T]he authorities unite in holding that a county is a local, legal, political subdivision of the state, created out of the territory of the state, and that it is but an agency or arm of the state, created, organized, and existing for civil and political purposes, particularly for the purpose of administering locally the general powers and policies of the state.”

Home Rule did not abrogate State control of counties. The General Assembly implemented home rule and they decide/decided what powers local governments should have. As such, the State has the authority to give, modify or remove grants of power to local governments.

*Hospitality Ass'n of South Carolina, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 320 S.C. 219, 464 S.E.2d 113

(1995). In a footnote to Attorney General Opinion No. 87-76, the Attorney General states,

“[c]ounties or municipalities are arms or subdivisions of the State, subject to legislative control, created and existing with a view to the policy of the State and serving as its agencies...Accordingly, as a general rule, counties (or municipalities) may not sue the State or its agencies.” “The county is but another manifestation of the state; it is an arm of the state.”

*Edgefield County v. Georgia –Carolina Power Co.*, 104 S.C. 311, 88 S.E. 801 (1916). “Counties

are subdivisions of the State, subordinate and subject to legislative control, created and existing with a view to the policy of the State and serving as its agencies.” *Parker v. Bates*, 216 S.C. 52,

56 S.E.2d 723 (1949). “The power to ‘sue and be sued’ given to almost all political subdivisions

does not extend to a challenge of the acts of the creator of those subdivisions.” *Richland County*

*Recreation Dist. v. Columbia*, 290 S.C. 93, 348 S.E.2d 363 (1986). Additionally, Georgetown

County repeatedly invokes the defenses and limitations of liability contained in the South

Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-10, et seq., in defense of suits filed against it. The South Carolina Tort Claims Act is the exclusive remedy for claims and actions brought against governmental entities. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-38-65, 15-78-10, 15-78-40. The act does not create a new substantive cause of action against a governmental entity. *Moore v. Florence Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 314 S.C. 335, 444 S.E.2d 498 (1994). The Tort Claims Act is a limited waiver of governmental immunity. *Arthurs v. Aiken County*, 338 S.C. 253, 525 S.E.2d 542 (Ct. App. 1999). By invoking the protections of the SC Tort Claims Act Georgetown County is asserting that they are akin to the state and are entitled to the same protections, immunity and limitations of liability as the state. As such, Georgetown County has repeatedly acknowledged and asserted that they are an arm of the state.

The Supreme Court of the United States has determined that there is a difference between transactions involving the State and private individuals and those between the State and a municipal corporation, such as a county. “[B]etween the State and municipal corporations, such as cities, counties, and towns, the relation is different from that between the State and the individual. Municipal corporations are mere instrumentalities of the State, for the convenient administration of government; and their powers may be qualified, enlarged, or withdrawn, at the pleasure of the legislature.” *Tippecanoe County v. Lucas*, 93 U.S. 108, 114, 23 L.Ed. 822 (U.S. 1876). The Supreme Court further discussed the relationship between a State and a county in *Trenton v. New Jersey*, 262 U.S. 182, 43 S. Ct. 534, 536, 67 L. Ed. 937 (U.S. 1923):

“The number, nature and duration of the powers conferred upon these corporations and the territory over which they shall be exercised rests in the absolute discretion of the state.” *Id.* “The state, therefore, at its pleasure may modify or withdraw all such powers, may take without compensation such property, hold it itself, or vest it in other agencies, expand or contract the territorial area, unite the whole or a part of it with another municipality, repeal the charter and destroy the corporation. All this may be done, conditionally or

unconditionally, with or without consent of the citizens, or even against their protest.”

In *Edgefield*, the Georgia-Carolina Power Co. built a dam which obstructed the Savannah River and a creek causing the water to back up and flood and destroy the public highway of Edgefield County. The Court determined it was within the power of the Legislature to subject the highway in Edgefield to be overflowed, and the county did not have a right to complain about it. *Id.* “The constitutional prohibition to take private property without making compensation therefore has no application to the taking of public property.” *Id.* Appellant argues that *Edgefield* has no implications here as it was decided before South Carolina adopted Home Rule. In making that assertion Appellant ignores the facts of Edgefield in that the County was operating under a grant of power from the state over the highways in the county and were seeking compensation for damages thereto.

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